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          1  COMMITTEE ON VETERANS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Good morning,

          3  and welcome to the hearing of Committee on Veterans.

          4  I'm Hiram Monserrate, Chair of the Committee, and

          5  today actually is our last Committee hearing of this

          6  session, we will examine two bills, Intro. No.

          7  668-A, which would enhance the Veterans Advisory

          8  Board, and Intro. No. 768, which would require that

          9  notices of our veterans property tax exemptions be

         10  included on tax bills.

         11                 Intro. 668 was originally written to

         12  require the selection of a Chairperson for the

         13  Veterans Advisory Board; however, it has since been

         14  changed to also require that the Advisory Board meet

         15  at least quarterly, keep a record of its

         16  deliberations, determine its own rules of procedure

         17  and submit an annual report to the Mayor and to the

         18  City Council.

         19                 These measures are designed to

         20  improve the Board's operation and promote greater

         21  accountability to the Mayor and to the Council and

         22  veterans in this City, on whose behalf the Board is

         23  supposed to serve.

         24                 Intro. 768 would require that the

         25  Department of Finance include information about
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          2  property tax exemptions for veterans and Gold Star

          3  parents on property tax bills.

          4                 I am confident that this disclosure

          5  will help many New York City veterans and their

          6  families, who could benefit from these exemptions,

          7  but have no idea that they even exist.

          8                 Although we aren't voting on these

          9  bills today, it is my hope that as the Council

         10  begins its new session early next year, we will not

         11  only reintroduce and pass these bills, but we will

         12  continue to work on behalf of the hundreds of

         13  thousands of New Yorkers who have served in our

         14  country's armed forces.

         15                 Before I begin, I will acknowledge

         16  two of the other Committee members who are here,

         17  Council Member Avella from Queens, and Council

         18  Member Nelson from Brooklyn.

         19                 We will take our first witness which

         20  is, we're going to call Joseph Bello and Ralph

         21  DiToro.

         22                 Let me also state that the

         23  Administration was invited to testify but declined.

         24                 Gentlemen, you can say your name for

         25  the record clearly, who you represent and begin your
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          2  testimony.

          3                 MR. DiTORO: Okay. My name is Ralph

          4  DiToro. I'm a disabled veteran. I'm with the

          5  Disabled Veterans Action Committee, and I have more

          6  questions than I have testimony concerning this

          7  advisory panel, and I want to know if I can get

          8  some, maybe someone on the Committee can answer them

          9  for me.

         10                 If this advisory panel that was

         11  elected was sort of inactive for ten years, then why

         12  wasn't the Mayor or somebody else notified of this?

         13  Didn't he see that he wasn't getting any information

         14  about the veterans, and he wasn't getting any

         15  adequate information, you could have taken charge

         16  ten years ago.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Let me just

         18  say in all due fairness, I know that we have had

         19  some communication with the Mayor's Office, and

         20  specifically MOVA. We have had this issue raised in

         21  prior hearings, and this legislation is a response

         22  to those hearings, and quite frankly, some things

         23  that we view could be done much better.

         24                 I actually introduced this bill, and

         25  why we're having the hearing today.
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          2                 So, I think that those questions

          3  probably are better posed to the Mayor's Office and

          4  to MOVA.

          5                 MR. DiTORO: But I'm saying is the way

          6  this is posed, five from the Mayor's Office, he's

          7  only electing five from the Council, what prevents

          8  this Committee from being stacked?

          9                 You know, a person that works for

         10  veterans should work for veterans, and for their

         11  causes. If they're just, they're just. They should

         12  be able to stand up there and say this is a just

         13  cause and not back down.

         14                 It hasn't happened in ten years. Now,

         15  how was this election, or these elections, or

         16  combinations going to be done? And who are these

         17  people that their names are going to be thrown into

         18  a hat? What are their qualifications? Or they're

         19  going to be the same old network of, well, if we

         20  ever meet, we'll have a meeting, if we don't, we

         21  don't?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Let me just

         23  say, Ralph, we're here to hear your testimony. The

         24  bill is pretty explicit, that they have to have at

         25  least quarterly meetings. They have to keep records,
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          2  which I assume would be minutes. They'll have to

          3  make those reports available to the Council, and

          4  that would be the law. This is the law, this is not

          5  an agency rule.

          6                 Clearly, this is attempting to evoke

          7  a better response.

          8                 MR. DiTORO: If they don't do this,

          9  would they be --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: They will be

         11  in violation of the law.

         12                 MR. DiTORO: Okay. Okay.

         13                 Let me just go on, I have one other

         14  question.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: I think what

         16  we should do is have testimony.

         17                 MR. DiTORO: The tax, and I appreciate

         18  the increase, but in this new bill, what I would

         19  like to see is that those that are disabled know,

         20  when their increase increases, mine went from 40 to

         21  60 percent, am I entitled to an extra tax break? Is

         22  that in this bill also?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: This bill is

         24  specifically about notification.

         25                 MR. DiTORO: About notifications?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Clearly about

          3  notification because there's thousands of veterans

          4  that don't even know that there is an exemption.

          5                 MR. DiTORO: But this is going to make

          6  sure that they get notified of these benefits and

          7  what these benefits are --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: That's

          9  correct.

         10                 MR. DiTORO: Then I have no further

         11  testimony.

         12                 Thank you very much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you,

         14  Ralph.

         15                 Joe.

         16                 MR. BELLO: All right, Mr. Chairman,

         17  Committee members, thank you once again for giving

         18  me the opportunity to speak.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Can you

         20  identify yourself for the record?

         21                 MR. BELLO: Oh, I'm sorry, Joseph

         22  Bello. I hope you'll indulge me by letting me make

         23  two comments, one regarding the intros and one

         24  regarding the Committee. This is the last hearing

         25  for the year before a new Speaker is selected.
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          2                 With regard to Intro. 768, I fully

          3  support this bill, and I'm very happy to see that

          4  besides veterans, Gold Star parents were included.

          5  As the Mayor's Office of Veterans Affairs does not

          6  have the resources to promulgate this information to

          7  the veterans' community, other than through its

          8  website, and the applicants need to own the property

          9  by January 5th and apply by March 15th, this bill I

         10  feel is essential because it will allow the

         11  Department of Finance to reach many more veterans

         12  and Gold Star parents who own property, particularly

         13  those who are elderly, and those veterans, and those

         14  Gold Star parents who have limited access to a

         15  computer, as you know most elderly do.

         16                 I would personally like to thank

         17  Councilman Avella for his leadership on this issue

         18  and for sponsoring of Council Resolution 1278.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 I look forward to seeing this much

         21  needed bill passed into law.

         22                 As to Intro. 688-A, as I stated at

         23  the last hearing on this bill, many advocates,

         24  including myself, have expressed the thought that

         25  the Board has not been effective and has been
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          2  hindered. Therefore, I applaud the Committee moving

          3  towards giving the Veterans Advisory Board greater

          4  responsibility and what others and I would call more

          5  teeth.

          6                 However, after reading the revision,

          7  I am a little concerned with the one line the Mayor

          8  and the Speaker shall each consider service in

          9  conflicts involving members of the United States

         10  Armed Forces for making such appointment. To be

         11  clear, while I understand the intent is to consider,

         12  I'm concerned that the Mayor and Speaker may take

         13  this too literal which could possibly cut off many

         14  individuals who would like to serve on the Board but

         15  did not serve in a conflict.

         16                 So, I ask you to either reconsider or

         17  reword that statement.

         18                 Also, this Committee's own briefing

         19  paper in May stated that the Advisory Board had no

         20  discernible agenda and has been generally

         21  unproductive. Several individuals who were on the

         22  Board have even expressed they would not serve

         23  again.

         24                 Therefore, I'm a little concerned

         25  that since we currently have no active Board, there
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          2  may be a problem with the selecting of a chair and

          3  vice chair, as that would require both the Mayor and

          4  the Speaker to make their selection to the Board at

          5  or around the same time, something that did not

          6  happen three years ago.

          7                 However, overall, with some tweaking,

          8  I look forward to seeing this bill moved on to the

          9  full Council at either the last Stated Council

         10  Meeting, or hopefully by resubmitting this bill when

         11  the session starts in January.

         12                 Now, I'd like to take a moment just

         13  to say a few words to you all. First off, thank you

         14  all for serving on this Committee.

         15                 While some may not see this as the

         16  most glamorous committee, I believe that this was

         17  one of the most, the most, in these times, important

         18  committee in the City Council.

         19                 It is my hope that with the selection

         20  of the new Speaker next month, he or she will see

         21  the wisdom and the progressiveness of keeping this

         22  Committee, especially during a time of war and

         23  conflict.

         24                 As I personally expect this Committee

         25  to return, I would like to leave you with some
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          2  issues that remain relevant in the coming year.

          3                 First and foremost, as I've stated

          4  before, we need new direction at MOVA. MOVA is

          5  supposed to be our voice at City Hall. What we have

          6  learned from these hearings is that MOVA has not

          7  done the job, and has been reactive instead of

          8  proactive. This must not and cannot continue.

          9                 I urge this Committee to keep

         10  bringing MOVA to the map when it falls short of

         11  helping our veterans.

         12                 The budget for MOVA. I want to thank

         13  you for trying to increase MOVA's budget. The

         14  Mayor's Office only supplies $75,000 of this budget.

         15  I don't understand how the Mayor can publicly state

         16  on Veterans Day we owe an enormous amount seriously

         17  to our veterans, they made tremendous sacrifices to

         18  protect the liberty and security of our nation, and

         19  then only fund it out of a $50 billion budget at

         20  $75,000. That's a sham and a disgrace. And I urge

         21  the Committee to continue to look at ways to

         22  increase the funding at MOVA.

         23                 The VA Cares Issue will continue to

         24  be a hot topic for veterans particularly in the

         25  coming year. Moving any services from one VA
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          2  Hospital to another will be a tremendous hardship on

          3  all veterans, particularly those who are elderly and

          4  disabled.

          5                 As the Committee's last hearing has

          6  shown, veteran homelessness will be a very important

          7  issue, particularly for those returning. It is my

          8  hope that the Committee, when it reconvenes, can get

          9  DHS to add the question, are you a veteran to its

         10  homeless outreach population estimate in February

         11  2006.

         12                 It is also conceivable that next

         13  year, whoever becomes the next chair of the Consumer

         14  Affairs Committee, may take another look at the

         15  vendors issue. While there are many angles and

         16  depths to the vending issue, the Veterans Committee

         17  must fight to make sure the veterans voices are

         18  heard in any legislation concerning vending.

         19                 Also, many immigrants come to New

         20  York City to make a better life for themselves and

         21  their families.

         22                 Two years ago the Council passed

         23  Resolution 844, the citizenship for America's Troops

         24  Act of 2003. For the coming year I would like to see

         25  this Committee create a resolution calling upon the
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          2  government and the Department of Defense to start

          3  expediting naturalization to those members current

          4  serving.

          5                 In conclusion, once again, thank you,

          6  all, for giving me the opportunity to come before

          7  you time and time again.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you

          9  very much.

         10                 MR. BELLO: God bless you all.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: We've been

         12  joined by Council Member James.

         13                 I will call up the next panel.

         14                 We have Jim Reilly and Denny Meyer.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Mr. Chair?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: While we're

         18  waiting for the new panel to come up, I'd like to

         19  put on the record why is the Administration or MOVA

         20  not testifying on these bills? I see a smile but I'd

         21  like to know the reason. Do we know?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Do you want

         23  to answer for the record? You're not here? You're

         24  just observing.

         25                 We'll have to have a rule about
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          2  observers in this Committee.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Am I correct

          4  that this is now the second meeting of the Veterans

          5  Committee where MOVA or the Administration has not

          6  testified?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: And I think

          9  it's important to say that this is disgraceful.

         10                 You know, the last meeting it was the

         11  chair, the Director of MOVA was away. He's still

         12  away? I mean, what's going on?

         13                 We have two bills, two good bills.

         14  And by the way, Mr. Chair, I'd like to go on your

         15  bill as a sponsor.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you

         17  very much, Councilman.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: That obviously

         19  we consider important, and for the Administration

         20  not to be here to give some sort of testimony, and

         21  I'm hearing off the record that the reason that

         22  they're not testifying is because, well, if the

         23  bills are reintroduced next year we'll come and

         24  testify. What sort of nonsense is that? I mean, if

         25  we're having a hearing today, let's do due diligence
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          2  on these bills, so that when they do get

          3  reintroduced next year, we can move to vote them out

          4  quickly next year.

          5                 I mean, I find their lack of presence

          6  here today disgraceful.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you,

          8  Council Member Avella.

          9                 Please, gentlemen, begin with your

         10  testimony. Identify yourselves for the record, your

         11  organization you represent and please begin.

         12                 MR. MEYER: I'm Denny Meyer. I

         13  represent American Veterans for Equal Rights. I am

         14  the President of the New York Chapter and the

         15  National Public Affairs Officer.

         16                 I'm going to be talking about the tax

         17  exemption 768. Mr. Reilly, who is the vice president

         18  at the organization of New York will be talking

         19  about the other issue of the advisory board.

         20                 We commend this Committee and the

         21  Council for considering providing genuine

         22  recognition of the sacrifices made by veterans, and

         23  Gold Star parents in the form of homeowner tax

         24  exemptions and notice thereof.

         25                 We would like to suggest, perhaps
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          2  insist, that this, and any new legislation or

          3  amendments thereto in the City of New York, contains

          4  specific provisions prohibiting any discriminatory

          5  interpretation in the implementation thereof which

          6  would exclude eligible benefit -- exclude benefit to

          7  eligible homeowners who are same sex partners,

          8  lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgendered, as well as

          9  any other minorities. Such provision would simply

         10  reiterate New York City laws, prohibiting

         11  discrimination, housing, and other areas.

         12                 It may seem redundant to specify such

         13  a provision -- such a prohibition of discrimination

         14  and legislative measures in which minority status

         15  would have no relevance to eligibility. However,

         16  there are ongoing documented cases of discriminatory

         17  and exclusionary interpretations which have been

         18  applied.

         19                 Recently in New Jersey a local

         20  homeowner had his veterans tax exemption revoked,

         21  which he had had for many years, when he simply

         22  registered in New Jersey legally with his domestic

         23  partnership.

         24                 This interpretation of discriminatory

         25  exclusion was reversed following a costly lawsuit
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          2  that should not have been necessary for the

          3  individual, for the Administration. It's a waste of

          4  money.

          5                 At the federal level, VA home loan

          6  guarantee eligibility excludes combined income of

          7  same sex domestic partners. This contradicts and/or

          8  impinges upon local laws which prohibit such

          9  discrimination in housing and accommodation.

         10                 As a result, there are often mistaken

         11  interpretations of local tax exemptions, which

         12  exclude minorities in violation of local laws.

         13                 It is for this reason that we

         14  strongly urge that this and all new legislation and

         15  amendments affecting veterans include specific

         16  prohibition of interpretations that would

         17  discriminate and exclude minorities based on their

         18  actual or perceived sexual orientation, gender

         19  identity and domestic partnership status.

         20                 I have seen, in the reading of this

         21  and similar testimony, that there are some people

         22  who would like to have no discussion, no mention of

         23  this kind of provision, and it is their intent to

         24  discriminate that makes it evident that this kind of

         25  inclusion, inclusionary language is necessary in
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          2  legislation. I thank you.

          3                 MR. REILLY: Before I read my

          4  statement, I should like to apologize to the

          5  Committee in the name of all veterans for the

          6  disrespect that has been shown to you by MOVA. We

          7  deal with it regularly. I'm sorry it has happened to

          8  you.

          9                 My name is James Reilly. I'm Vice

         10  President of the American Veterans for Equal Rights

         11  New York.

         12                 We commend the second attempt to

         13  improve equal representation on and management of

         14  the Veterans Advisory Board.

         15                 In previous testimony regarding an

         16  earlier version of this amendment, we urged

         17  provision for specific representation of minority

         18  veterans and veterans of varying ages and eras. We

         19  continue to urge for such provision, in addition to

         20  new commentary to follow regarding the current

         21  version of this amendment.

         22                 First, we urge the law to amend the

         23  City Charter regarding the Veterans Advisory Board

         24  grant oversight of the Mayor's Office of Veterans

         25  Affairs, and by the Veterans Advisory Board.
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          2                 That oversight would specifically

          3  ensure that MOVA actively represents the rights and

          4  needs of all veterans in the City of New York.

          5                 Second, we urge that the law to amend

          6  the City Charter regarding the Veterans Advisory

          7  Board grant oversight of the New York City Veterans

          8  Day Parade by the Veterans Advisory Board.

          9                 That oversight would specifically

         10  ensure that the Veterans Day Parade is administered

         11  to respect the rights of all veterans and groups to

         12  participate in the parade without regard to the

         13  minority status and their expressed opinions and

         14  views regardless of the perception thereof by parade

         15  organizers and administrators.

         16                 Testimony at oversight hearings held

         17  previously by this Committee has provided ample

         18  evidence of dissatisfaction by veteran groups of

         19  their representation by MOVA.

         20                 While it is understood that MOVA

         21  currently serves at the pleasure of the Mayor, a law

         22  providing oversight of that office by veterans would

         23  assure that this vital function is carried out in a

         24  manner consistent with legalitarian standards of the

         25  City of New York, the disrespect of veterans and
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          2  Gold Star mothers at this year's Veterans Day Parade

          3  due to their minority status or expressed opinions

          4  demonstrates the need for a law which ensures that

          5  the City of New York will not permit discrimination,

          6  dismissal, censorship, nor exclusion of minorities

          7  and groups with alternative lifestyles or opinions.

          8                 It goes without saying that the

          9  parade must, above all else, honor the service and

         10  sacrifice of those who have served and the parents

         11  of those whose lives were lost at war.

         12                 It should also go without saying that

         13  no veteran would ever make any comments

         14  disrespecting the service of others currently

         15  defending our freedom.

         16                 Claims that have been made to the

         17  contrary are outrageously false fabrications which

         18  appear to be designed to justify illegal

         19  discrimination and censorship against those veterans

         20  and parents with alternative lifestyles or opinions.

         21  Regardless of claims and counterclaims about

         22  performance at the Parade, the Veterans Day Parade

         23  can only be enhanced by a law that would provide

         24  oversight, by the Veterans Advisory Board to ensure

         25  its integrity.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you

          3  very much.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: I was going to

          5  ask because I wasn't aware of this, they excluded

          6  the rights of some veterans to march in this parade?

          7                 MR. MEYER: What happened was there

          8  was an attempt to do so. Every year there's been an

          9  attempt to --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Based upon

         11  sexual orientation or?

         12                 MR. MEYER: Well, every year there has

         13  been an attempt, which has been very subtle, you

         14  know, as in subtle discrimination, to tide our group

         15  with the Rainbow Flag behind a very noisy other

         16  group that's anti-war, and there's been an attempt

         17  to mix us with that group to imply a double

         18  negative.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: I see.

         20                 MR. MEYER: Though we've asked not to

         21  be.

         22                 Now, this year something else

         23  happened. This year we were lined up, not next to

         24  that group, just in some sort of order, and when we

         25  were ushered to move into Fifth Avenue, suddenly an
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          2  official, United War Veterans Council, came up

          3  contradicting the other person who motioned us

          4  forward shouting rudely -- we had three World War II

          5  veterans with us, 90-year-old men, rudely shouting

          6  at us that we were out of order, stand aside, we

          7  can't proceed, and so we moved aside.

          8                 Then that other person motioned us

          9  forward again, and again another official came

         10  running over and said I'm going to remove you from

         11  the parade unless you do what I told you. I told you

         12  to stay, et cetera, et cetera.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: They told you

         14  to stay where?

         15                 MR. MEYER: To move aside while all of

         16  these other groups were --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: To move aside.

         18                 MR. MEYER: Then we had, and I'm sorry

         19  he's not here with us today, a member of this

         20  Committee, United States Army Reserve Captain and

         21  New York City Council Member Alan Gerson, who could

         22  testify that we have done nothing wrong, and went

         23  over and had a word, and suddenly -- it shouldn't

         24  take a Council member to get a group to be able to

         25  march in the parade.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: They did show

          3  Alan respect, though, when he went there?

          4                 MR. MEYER: Apparently so.

          5                 Now --

          6                 MR. REILLY: Eventually.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: It took

          8  awhile.

          9                 MR. MEYER: Now, I did not see the

         10  next thing, but there's somebody else who can

         11  testify to it, another group, Veterans for Peace,

         12  who we have nothing to do with, apparently did not

         13  have a Council member with them. They had Cindy

         14  Sheehan on a float, a nationally recognized Gold

         15  Star mother, whose opinions don't happen to agree

         16  with a lot of other people, and they were moved to

         17  the back of the parade and threatened with arrest.

         18                 Now, that's quite a bit of disrespect

         19  simply because of their opinion.

         20                 Now, I did not see or hear this, but

         21  I was told that at least members of the Police

         22  Department expressed a negative opinion about her

         23  opinion and what she represents.

         24                 I don't think that the Parade

         25  Committee or the police or anybody else should have
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          2  the authority and the ability to censor or dismiss

          3  or try to exclude in any way people who are behaving

          4  properly. Now, there were letters flying around,

          5  which some of you have seen, which implied that some

          6  veterans said some terrible things. No veteran would

          7  say such things. It was claimed that some veterans

          8  said negative, that the people currently serving in

          9  Iraq are fools.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Okay.

         11                 MR. MEYER: No veteran would ever say

         12  such things. So, this is hearsay.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Well, I don't

         14  agree with Cindy Sheehan on a few items myself --

         15                 MR. MEYER: Right.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: But I agree

         17  she has a right to express herself.

         18                 MR. MEYER: Exactly. That's our point.

         19                 And the point is, I am completely

         20  neutral on that. I'm just saying, since we're

         21  discriminated against over and over, I don't think

         22  anybody should be.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: So long as

         24  they have the opportunity to elaborate because I

         25  think it's important.
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          2                 MR. MEYER: As long as they behave.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: And Mr. Chair,

          4  and Counsel, please add my name to 688-A. I thought

          5  it was on there already, by the way.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Okay.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you for

          8  that explanation.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Okay, thank

         10  you very much, gentlemen. Thank you.

         11                 MR. MEYER: I think there is something

         12  there that was with the other group.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: No, I

         14  understand. That sounds like that's a separate

         15  hearing.

         16                 MR. MEYER: Okay.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Today's

         18  hearing is on these two bills, and how you testimony

         19  relates to these two bills. I really appreciate it.

         20                 If there are no other members from

         21  the public to testify today, let me just reiterate

         22  that the statements by my colleague expressed

         23  disappointment in MOVA and the Administration. It

         24  might even be possible that these bills could have

         25  been passed out of this legislative session had we
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          2  had a little more cooperation from the

          3  Administration, but we will be back in January and

          4  we'll make sure that they both happen, and hopefully

          5  they will support these two very well drafted pieces

          6  of legislation.

          7                 I want to thank my colleagues who

          8  have really broken ground here in the City Council

          9  with a brand new Committee, the Veterans Committee,

         10  the first time we had a full Committee. It's been an

         11  opportunity, and I want to thank our General

         12  Counsel, our Legislative Policy Analyst, Mr.

         13  Ettricks, and Perry Stein for their hard work and

         14  diligence, and I wish everyone a very happy

         15  holidays, if I don't see you before the new year,

         16  and I'll see you all in January, God-willing.

         17                 Thank you very much, and God bless

         18  our troops.

         19                 (Hearing concluded at 12:00 p.m.)
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